RECEIVED

04-17-2017

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2016AP000173-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

BRIAN GRANDBERRY,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Janet Protasiewicz Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

LEON W. TODD Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1050407

Office of the State Public Defender 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202 (414) 227-4805 toddl@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

INTRODUCTION

Brian Grandberry was arrested for transporting a handgun in the glove compartment of his car. His actions were in full compliance with the requirements of the "safe transport statute," the law that specifically governs the proper method for transporting a firearm inside a vehicle. WIS. STAT. § 167.31.¹ Nevertheless, Grandberry was charged with and convicted of carrying a concealed weapon, contrary to WIS. STAT. § 941.23 (the "CCW statute").

This Court should vacate Grandberry's conviction and hold that compliance with the safe transport statute precludes liability under the CCW statute. In *State v. Walls*, 190 Wis. 2d 65, 526 N.W.2d 765 (Ct. App. 1994), the court of appeals recognized (but did not hold) that compliance with the safe transport statute provides safe harbor from prosecution under the CCW statute. This safe harbor rule is the only reasonable way to resolve the conflict between the CCW statute and the safe transport statute. Without this rule, Wisconsin residents who do not have CCW permits would be precluded from transporting a firearm inside a vehicle unless the firearm is placed: (1) above the lower portion of the car's window frame, such as on the dashboard where it is not "concealed"; or (2) in the car's trunk, so that it is out of reach and thus not "carried" for purposes of the CCW statute.

Neither of these options is adequate, however. Transporting a gun on a car's dashboard is ill-advised and unsafe. Also, many vehicles, like pickup trucks and sport utility vehicles (SUVs), do not have trunks. Consequently,

¹ The safe transport statute is also sometimes referred to as the "transportation restriction statute." (*See Amicus Curiae* Wisconsin Carry, Inc.'s Br. at 4).

without the safe harbor rule recognized in *Walls*, many Wisconsin gun owners (for example, hunters who do not have CCW permits and drive pickup trucks or SUVs) would have no safe, responsible, and legal way to transport firearms inside their vehicles. Moreover, without the safe harbor rule, the conflict between the CCW statute and safe transport statute would render the CCW statute unconstitutionally vague as applied to the transportation of firearms in vehicles.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. As a matter of law, is there sufficient evidence to convict a person of violating the CCW statute if the firearm is transported in a vehicle in full compliance with the safe transport statute?

The circuit court found Grandberry guilty of violating the CCW statute based on his stipulation to the facts in the criminal complaint. On appeal, the court of appeals affirmed, holding that the safe transport statute only applies to those who have a CCW permit under WIS. STAT. § 175.60. Since Grandberry did not have a CCW permit, the court of appeals concluded there was sufficient evidence convict him, as the stipulated facts met the elements of the CCW statute.

2. Is the CCW statute void for vagueness as applied to a person like Grandberry who transports a firearm in a vehicle in full compliance with the safe transport statute?

The circuit court denied Grandberry's motion to dismiss the case on the grounds of statutory vagueness. The court of appeals also held that the CCW statute was not unconstitutionally vague as applied to Grandberry.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

By granting review, this Court has deemed both oral argument and publication to be appropriate.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State filed a criminal complaint charging Brian Grandberry with one count of carrying a concealed weapon. The complaint alleged that, on November 9, 2014, police conducted a traffic stop of a car driven by Grandberry. During the stop, one of the officers asked Grandberry if he had any firearms, and Grandberry told him there was a gun in the glove compartment. The officer then asked Grandberry if he had a CCW permit, and Grandberry said that he did. The officers checked the permit database and discovered that Grandberry did not, in fact, have a CCW permit. The officers then opened the glove compartment and discovered a loaded semi-automatic handgun. (2:1).

Grandberry filed a motion to dismiss the case on the grounds that the CCW statute, as applied to him, was void for vagueness. (5). He pointed out that his conduct, while seemly prohibited by the CCW statute, was actually permitted by the safe transport statute, which permits the placement, possession, or transportation of a handgun in a vehicle, even if the handgun is loaded. *See* WIS. STAT. § 167.31(2)(b)1.²

(continued)

² Subsection (2)(b) of the safe transport statute provides as follows:

⁽b) Except as provided in sub. (4), no person may place, possess, or transport a firearm, bow, or crossbow in or on a vehicle, unless one of the following applies:

Grandberry therefore asserted that the coexistence of these conflicting statutes rendered the CCW statute unconstitutionally vague as applied to him. (5:1-2, 7-8). He also argued that because of the conflict, the CCW statute should be construed to prohibit the prosecution of a person who transports a firearm in a vehicle in compliance with the safe transport statute.³ (5:1-2, 8-10).

On July 9, 2015, the circuit court, the Honorable Janet Protasiewicz, denied Grandberry's motion in an oral ruling. The court offered the following reasoning in support of its ruling:

I just cannot imagine how the intent of the legislature would be – the carrying concealed weapon statute from my understanding has not changed in decades and decades. It's remained intact. How the people of this community do not have a right to be protected from people that aren't permit holders from having that weapon in their vehicle. I just don't see it. I don't see that you've proven beyond a reasonable doubt that the statute as applied is unconstitutional either on its face or as applied to Mr. Grandberry.

- 1. The firearm is unloaded or is a handgun.
- 2. The bow does not have an arrow nocked.
- 3. The crossbow is not cocked or is unloaded and enclosed in a carrying case.

WIS. STAT. § 167.31(2)(b). None of the exceptions contained in subsection (4) are applicable in this case.

³ Grandberry further argued that, under the circumstances of this case, a conviction for carrying a concealed weapon would violate his right to bear arms as guaranteed by the Second Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, § 25 of the Wisconsin Constitution. (5:2). Grandberry does not raise this argument on appeal.

(14:12; App. 121).

Thereafter, the circuit court conducted a stipulated court trial at the parties' request. Pursuant to this arrangement, Grandberry stipulated to the facts in the criminal complaint, and the court found him guilty of carrying a concealed weapon. (16:1-2). The court subsequently imposed and stayed a sentence of three months in the House of Corrections and placed Grandberry on probation for a period of one year. (16:9).

Grandberry appealed the circuit court's ruling to the court of appeals. (8, 10). On appeal, he argued that there was insufficient evidence to convict him of carrying a concealed weapon, because his conduct fully complied with the safe transport statute and, as such, did not constitute "carrying" a concealed weapon. (Grandberry's Initial COA Br. at 5-11). He also argued, in the alternative, that if a person can be guilty of carrying a concealed weapon even if he fully complies with the safe transport statute, then the CCW statute should be found to be unconstitutionally vague as applied to a person who transports a firearm in a vehicle in compliance with the safe transport statute. (Grandberry's Initial COA Br. at 11-16).

The court of appeals affirmed the judgment of the circuit court in an unpublished opinion.⁴ The court first concluded that the safe transport statute, although "not a model of clarity in explaining who exactly falls within its ambit," only applies to those who have a CCW permit under WIS. STAT. § 175.60. (Ct. App. Op. at 5; App. 105). The court therefore found that the safe transport statute did not

⁴ Because this is a misdemeanor case, the opinion was issued by one judge pursuant to WIS. STAT. § 752.31(2).

apply to Grandberry, since he did not have a CCW permit. The court also found that the stipulated facts contained in the criminal complaint satisfied the elements of carrying a concealed weapon. It therefore held that there was sufficient evidence to convict Grandberry. (Ct. App. Op. at 5-6; App. 105-06).

In addition, the court of appeals found that Grandberry was subjectively aware that he was required to have a CCW permit in order to lawfully place a firearm in his glove compartment. The court "deduced" this from the fact that Grandberry initially told police that he had a CCW permit when, in fact, he did not have one. The court of appeals therefore held that the CCW statute was not unconstitutionally vague as applied to Grandberry. (Ct. App. Op. at 8; App. 108).

ARGUMENT

The undisputed facts show that Grandberry was transporting a handgun in his vehicle at the time of his arrest. His actions therefore fully complied with the requirements of the safe transport statute. *See* WIS. STAT. § 167.31(2)(b). In *Walls*, 190 Wis. 2d 65, the court of appeals "recognized that the placement, possession, or transportation of . . . firearms in vehicles as permitted by § 167.31(2)(b), Stats., does not constitute going armed with a concealed weapon." (Wis. Legis. Council Info. Memo., IM-2011-10, at 1 n. 3; App. 124).

Accordingly, if this Court agrees that *Walls* correctly interpreted the interplay between the CCW statute and the safe transport statute, then Grandberry's conviction should be vacated on the grounds of insufficiency of the evidence. However, even if this Court now concludes that *Walls* was

incorrect, then the conflicting nature of the two statutes renders the CCW statute unconstitutionally vague as applied in this case. If the relationship between the safe transport statute and CCW statute is so confusing and uncertain that the court of appeals in *Walls* and/or the Wisconsin Legislative Council previously misconstrued the interplay between the two statutes, then this Court cannot reasonably conclude that a person of ordinary intelligence would have fair notice of how the CCW statute applies to the transportation of firearms inside of vehicles.

Thus, regardless of whether *Walls* was correct, Grandberry's conviction should be vacated.

- I. As a Matter of Law, There Was Insufficient Evidence to Convict Grandberry of Carrying a Concealed Weapon Because His Conduct Fully Complied with the Safe Transport Statute.
 - A. General legal principles regarding sufficiency of the evidence and standard of review.

A conviction that is based on insufficient evidence cannot constitutionally stand. *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 309 (1979). The due process clauses of the United States and Wisconsin constitutions provide individuals with protection from conviction in a criminal case except "upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged." *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 365 (1970); *accord State v. Smith*, 117 Wis. 2d 399, 415, 344 N.W.2d 711 (Ct. App. 1983).

In Wisconsin, a criminal defendant may challenge the sufficiency of the evidence on appeal regardless of whether he specifically raised the issue at trial. *State v. Hayes*, 2004 WI 80, ¶ 4, 273 Wis. 2d 1, 681 N.W.2d 203. An appellate

court does not substitute its judgment for the fact-finder, but instead asks whether the evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to the State, is so lacking in probative value and force that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* ¶ 56. If the reviewing court concludes the evidence was insufficient, the conviction must be reversed, with a remand to the circuit court for entry of a judgment of acquittal. *State v. Wulff*, 207 Wis. 2d 143, 144-45, 557 N.W.2d 813 (1997) (citing *Burks v. United States*, 437 U.S. 1, 18 (1978)).

B. **Walls** recognizes that the transportation of a firearm in a vehicle in compliance with the safe transport statute does not constitute carrying a concealed weapon.

Subject to certain limited exceptions,⁵ the CCW statute makes it illegal for a person to carry a concealed and dangerous weapon. WIS. STAT. § 941.23. The offense has the three elements:

- 1. The defendant carried a dangerous weapon.
- 2. The defendant was aware of the presence of the weapon.
- 3. The weapon was concealed.

WIS. JI-CRIMINAL 1335; App. 132.

⁵ The CCW statute enumerates certain classes of people who are exempt from the prohibition, such as peace officers, out-of-state law enforcement officers, and individuals with a valid license to carry a concealed weapon under WIS. STAT. § 175.60, among others. *See* WIS. STAT. § 941.23(2).

It is the first element – the "carrying" of a dangerous weapon – that was lacking in this case. The word "carry" means "to go armed with." WIS. STAT. §§ 941.23(1)(ag), 175.60(1)(ag). The phrase "to go armed with," in turn, means that the weapon must have been on the defendant's person or within the defendant's reach. *Walls*, 190 Wis. 2d at 69.

In *Walls*, the court of appeals concluded that the lawful placement or transportation of firearms in vehicles, as permitted by the safe transport statute, does not constitute "going armed with" a dangerous weapon. *Id.* at 69 n.2, 72. In that case, police discovered a handgun lying on the front passenger seat of a car in which the defendant was a passenger. The parties stipulated to most of the dispositive facts; however, they disagreed about whether the handgun was "concealed" within the meaning of WIS. STAT. § 941.23. *Id.* at 67-68. On appeal, the court of appeals held that the handgun was concealed. *Id.* at 69.

The court in *Walls* noted that the CCW statute "evinces a strong rationale to prevent the carrying of concealed weapons in automobiles, as well as on a person." *Id.* at 71. The court therefore concluded that a person is guilty of carrying a concealed weapon in an automobile if: (1) the weapon is inside the vehicle and within the defendant's reach; (2) the defendant is aware of the presence of the weapon; and (3) the weapon is hidden from ordinary view, "meaning it is indiscernible from the ordinary observation of a person located outside and within the immediate vicinity of the vehicle." *Id.* at 71-72. Applying this test to the facts of that case, the *Walls* court held that the handgun was concealed, because police did not observe the gun until after "inspection" and "examination" of the vehicle. *Id.* at 72-73.

The *Walls* court, however, placed an important limitation on this holding. It recognized that the possession, placement, or transportation of a firearm inside a vehicle does not constitute "going armed with" a weapon if it is done in a manner that is consistent with the requirements of the safe transport statute. *Id.* at 69 n.2, 72. In this regard, the court stated as follows:

We are mindful "that there is a long tradition of widespread lawful gun ownership by private individuals in this country." *Staples v. United States*, 511 U.S. 600, [610], 114 S.Ct. 1793, 1799, 128 L.Ed.2d 608 (1994). Thus, our conclusion in this case in no way limits the *lawful* placement, possession, or transportation of, unloaded (or unstrung) and encased, firearms, bows, or crossbows in vehicles as permitted by § 167.31(2)(b), Stats., which provides in part:

(b) Except as provided in sub. (4), no person may place, possess or transport a firearm, bow or crossbow in or on a vehicle, unless the firearm is *unloaded and encased* or unless the bow or crossbow is unstrung or is enclosed in a carrying case.

Id. at 69 n.2 (emphases in original).

As noted in this passage, the safe transport statute at the time only permitted the placement, possession, or transportation of a firearm in a vehicle if the firearm was "unloaded and encased." *See* WIS. STAT. § 167.31(2)(b) (1993-94). In 2011, however, the legislature amended the statute to permit the placement, possession, or transportation of a firearm in a vehicle so long as "[t]he firearm is unloaded or is a handgun." WIS. STAT. § 167.31(2)(b); *see also* 2011 WIS. ACTS 35 and 51. In light of this amendment, *Walls* should now be read as establishing that the "lawful placement, possession, or transportation of [handguns or other

unloaded firearms] as permitted by § 167.31(2)(b)" does not constitute "going armed with" a dangerous weapon. *See Walls*, 190 Wis. 2d at 69 n.2.

There is no principled reason why the statutory amendments would not broaden the *Walls* court's conclusion in this manner. The term "dangerous weapon" has always included "any firearm, whether loaded or unloaded." WIS. STAT. § 939.22(10). Moreover, the legislature was presumable aware of the safe harbor rule from *Walls*, and it took no steps to abrogate it at the time it enacted the 2011 changes to the safe transport statute. *See Schill v. Wisconsin Rapids School Dist.*, 2010 WI 86, ¶ 103, 327 Wis. 2d 572, 786 N.W.2d 177 ("The legislature is presumed to be aware of existing laws and the courts' interpretation of those laws when it enacts a statute."). This indicates that the legislature intended for the safe harbor rule, as broadened by the 2011 amendments, to continue.

Accordingly, *Walls* recognizes that the possession, placement, or transportation of a firearm inside a vehicle in compliance with the safe transport statute, by its very nature, cannot be a violation of the CCW statute. Not only did the court state that its application of the CCW statute to vehicles in that case "in no way limits" a person's ability to possess, place, or transport a weapon inside a vehicle in compliance with the safe transport statute, it specifically emphasized that doing so was "lawful," notwithstanding the prohibitions of the CCW statute. *Walls*, 190 Wis. 2d at 69 n.2. *Walls* therefore stands for the proposition that compliance with the safe transport statute provides safe harbor from liability under the CCW statute.

The Wisconsin Legislative Council shares this interpretation of *Walls*. In an Information Memorandum on

the proposed changes to the safe transport statute in 2011, the Council, construing *Walls*, specifically stated that the placement, possession, or transportation of a firearm in a vehicle as permitted by the safe transport statute does not constitute "going armed with" a dangerous weapon:

Wisconsin courts generally do not treat having an unloaded and encased firearm within one's reach as "going armed with" the firearm.

. . . .

For instance, in *State v. Walls*, 190 Wis. 2d 65 (Ct. Appl. 1994), the Court of Appeals recognized that the placement, possession, or transportation of unloaded and encased firearms in vehicles as permitted by § 167.31(2)(b), Stats., does not constitute going armed with a concealed weapon.

(Wis. Legis. Council Info. Memo., IM-2011-10, at 1 n. 3; App. 124).

In this case, the undisputed facts clearly establish that Grandberry was transporting a handgun in his vehicle at the time of his arrest. (2:1; 16:1-2). Again, such conduct is now expressly authorized by the safe transport statute, even if the handgun is loaded. See WIS. STAT. § 167.31(2)(b)1. As a matter of law, therefore, Grandberry's conduct was subject to Walls' safe harbor rule – that is, it did not constitute "carrying" or "going armed with" a dangerous weapon. See Walls, 190 Wis. 2d at 69 n.2. Since this is an essential element of the offense of carrying a concealed weapon, there was insufficient evidence to convict Grandberry in this case.

C. **Walls**' safe harbor rule is the only reasonable way to resolve the conflict between the CCW statute and the safe transport statute.

Walls' safe harbor rule is the only reasonable and appropriate way to interpret the interplay between the safe transport statute and the CCW statute. Without the safe harbor rule, conduct that is expressly permitted by the safe transport statute would be prohibited (or, at the very least, severely limited) by the CCW. When this type of conflict exists between two statutes, this Court should interpret those statutes in a way that resolves the conflict and harmonizes the statutes. See Kolupar v. Wilde Pontiac Cadillac, Inc., 2007 WI 98, ¶ 28, 303 Wis. 2d 258, 735 N.W.2d 93 ("If the potential for conflict between the statutes is present, we will read the statutes to avoid such a conflict if a reasonable construction exists.").

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