RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 05-16-2017

IN SUPREME COUR CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2016AP173-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

BRIAN GRANDBERRY,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS AFFIRMING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JANET C. PROTASIEWICZ, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

JEFFREY J. KASSEL Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1009170

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. There was sufficient evidence to support Grandberry's conviction for carrying a concealed weapon.

A. A driver "carries" a concealed weapon when the weapon is in the vehicle's glove compartment.

The elements of the crime of carrying a concealed weapon are: (1) the defendant "carried," that is, went armed with, a dangerous weapon, which means that the dangerous weapon was on the defendant's person or within his reach; (2) the defendant was aware of the presence of the weapon; and (3) the weapon was concealed, meaning hidden from ordinary view. See State v. Fry, 131 Wis. 2d 153, 182, 388 N.W.2d 565 overruled on other grounds by State v. Dearborn, 2010 WI 84, 327 Wis. 2d 252, 786 N.W.2d 97; Wis. JI-Criminal 1335 (2012) (A-App. 132).³ The only element in dispute in this case is the

³ As the Jury Instruction Committee notes, 2011 Wis. Act 35 changed the definition of the offense from "goes armed with" a concealed dangerous weapon to "carries" a concealed dangerous weapon. *See* Wis. JI-Criminal 1335, Comment 4 (A-App. 135). As amended by Act 35, Wis. Stat. § 941.23(1)(ag) states that "carry" has the meaning given in section 175.60(1)(ag), which defines "carry" as "to go armed with."

first, whether Grandberry "carried" or "went armed with" the handgun that was in his glove compartment. (Grandberry's Br. 9.)

In *Fry*, the police searched a car that the defendant was driving and found a weapon in the glove compartment. *See Fry*, 131 Wis. 2d at 156–59. The defendant argued that the evidence was insufficient to show that he went armed with a concealed weapon based on his testimony that the glove compartment in which the weapon was found would not open while the passenger's seat was occupied. *Id.* at 182. That testimony, he argued, precluded a finding that the weapon was "within his reach," as required by *Mularkey v. State*, 201 Wis. 429, 230 N.W. 76 (1930). *See Fry*, 131 Wis. 2d at 182.

This Court said that "[t]he only element at issue in this case is whether the gun in the defendant's glove compartment was within his reach." *Id.* at 182. The Court held that there was sufficient evidence because the jury "reasonably could have found it unreasonable to believe that the glove compartment in the defendant's automobile could not be opened when the passenger seat was occupied; the jury could conclude that this did not comport with common sense and their general experiences in every day affairs of life, on which they could rely." *Id.* at 183.

Fry establishes that evidence that there was a weapon in a vehicle's glove compartment is sufficient to establish that the driver went armed with that weapon. Under Fry, therefore, there was sufficient evidence in this case that Grandberry went armed with a dangerous weapon when he drove with a loaded handgun in his glove compartment.

Grandberry does not attempt to distinguish Fry. Nor does he argue that Fry was wrongly decided. Indeed, his brief

only mentions *Fry* in passing, in a string citation of cases that have discussed the "going armed" element as applied to vehicle drivers. (Grandberry's Br. 14.)

Instead, Grandberry argues that in *State v. Walls*, 190 Wis. 2d 65, 526 N.W.2d 765 (Ct. App. 1994), the court of appeals "recognized (but did not hold) that compliance with the [Vehicle Statute] provides safe harbor from prosecution under the CCW statute" (Grandberry's Br. 1). He contends that "*Walls*' safe harbor rule is the only reasonable way to resolve the conflict between the CCW statute and the [Vehicle] [S]tatute" (*Id.* at 13.) In the following sections of this brief, the State will explain why Grandberry's arguments that the Vehicle Statute permits an individual who lacks a concealed carry license to carry a concealed handgun in a vehicle are wrong and why there is no conflict between the CCW Statute and the Vehicle Statute.

B. The Vehicle Statute does not provide a "safe harbor" from prosecution for carrying a concealed weapon in a vehicle.

In 2011, the Legislature made three changes to Wisconsin's weapons laws that are relevant to this case.

First, the Legislature created a new procedure that allows Wisconsin residents to obtain a license to carry a concealed weapon. *See* 2011 Wis. Act 35, § 38 (creating Wis. Stat. § 175.60).

Second, the Legislature amended the CCW Statute. Before the amendment, the CCW Statute provided that "[a]ny person except a peace officer who goes armed with a concealed and dangerous weapon is guilty of a Class A misdemeanor." Wis. Stat. § 941.23 (2009–10); see State v. Fisher, 2006 WI 44, ¶ 6, 290 Wis. 2d 121, 714 N.W.2d 495. The 2011 legislation amended the CCW Statute to provide some exceptions to the general prohibition against carrying a concealed dangerous weapons, including exceptions for persons who have a Wisconsin concealed carry license, persons who have certain out-of-state concealed carry licenses, and individuals who carry a concealed weapon in their dwelling or place of business or on land that they own, lease, or legally occupy. *See* 2011 Wis. Act 35, § 50 (amending Wis. Stat. § 941.23).

Third, the Legislature amended the Vehicle Statute. Before that amendment, the Vehicle Statute provided, with exceptions not relevant here, that "no person may place, possess or transport a firearm . . . in or on a vehicle, unless the firearm is unloaded and encased" Wis. Stat. § 167.31(2)(b) (2009–10); see Walls, 190 Wis. 2d at 69 n.2. The 2011 legislation amended the Vehicle Statute to provide, again with exceptions not relevant here, that "no person may place, possess, or transport a firearm . . . in or on a vehicle, unless one of the following applies: 1. The firearm is unloaded or is a handgun." See 2011 Wis. Act 35, § 31; 2011 Wis. Act. 51, § 11 (amending Wis. Stat. § 167.31(2)(b)).

As a result of these statutory changes, there is no longer a blanket prohibition against carrying a concealed weapon by persons other than peace officers. Wisconsin residents may now obtain a license to carry a concealed weapon under Wis. Stat. § 175.60. The amendment to the CCW Statute reflects the new concealed carry licensing procedure by excepting concealed carry licensees from the prohibition against carrying a concealed weapon. The amendment to the Vehicle Statute means that persons possessing or transporting a handgun in a vehicle, including concealed carry licensees, do not have to unload the handgun. But while the Legislature amended the CCW Statute to create exceptions for concealed carry licensees and out-ofstate licensees, and also created an exception for persons carrying a concealed weapon in their own home or business or on their own land, it did not create an exception for persons carrying a concealed weapon in a vehicle. Grandberry's argument that the Vehicle Statute provides such an exception asks this Court to write an exception into the CCW Statute that the Legislature did not include when it amended the CCW Statute.

Grandberry bases his contention that the Vehicle Statute creates an exception to the CCW Statute on a footnote in *Walls*. (Grandberry's Br. 10.) To the extent that *Walls* could be read as having recognized, in Grandberry's words, a "safe harbor," the court of appeals was wrong. But more importantly, even if the court in *Walls* had concluded that the prior version of the Vehicle Statute provided a safe harbor, and even if that was a correct interpretation of the prior version of the Vehicle Statute, the current version of the Vehicle Statute does not authorize a person without a concealed carry license to carry a concealed handgun in a vehicle.

The defendant in *Walls* was in the front passenger seat when police stopped the car in which he was riding. *See Walls*, 190 Wis. 2d at 67–68. After the defendant and the driver got out of the car, the officers saw a handgun on the front seat. *Id.* at 68. In a trial to the court, the parties stipulated to the facts and the trial court concluded that it would reach a verdict solely on the question whether the handgun was "concealed" within the meaning of the CCW Statute. *Id.* The trial court determined that regardless of whether the police could see the handgun lying on the front seat during their inspection, the gun was concealed to "ordinary observation" as the car travelled down the street before being stopped. *Id*.

The court of appeals held that the evidence was sufficient to support the conviction. *Id.* at 67. The court said that "[b]ecause we determine that the statute evinces a strong rationale to prevent the carrying of concealed weapons in automobiles, as well as on a person, we conclude that a person is guilty of carrying a concealed weapon in an automobile where: (1) the weapon is located inside a vehicle and is within the defendant's reach; (2) the defendant is aware of the presence of the weapon; and (3) the weapon is concealed, or hidden from ordinary view—meaning it is indiscernible from the ordinary observation of a person located outside and within the immediate vicinity of the vehicle." *Id.* at 71–72 (citing *Fry*, 131 Wis. 2d at 182).

To its summary of the elements of carrying a concealed weapon in an automobile, the court of appeals added a "but see" citation to footnote two of its opinion. See *id.* at 72. In that footnote, the court stated that its "conclusion in this case in no way limits the *lawful* placement, possession, or transportation of, unloaded (or unstrung) and encased, firearms, bows, or crossbows in vehicles as permitted by § 167.31(2)(b), Stats" *Id.* at 69 n.2.

Grandberry reads this footnote to have "recognized" that compliance with the Vehicle Statute provides a safe harbor from prosecution under the CCW Statute. (Grandberry's Br. 1.) He is not alone in that reading of the *Walls* footnote. A 2011 Wisconsin Legislative Council Information Memorandum discussing the proposed changes to Wisconsin's concealed carry laws cites *Walls* for the proposition that "Wisconsin courts generally do not treat having an unloaded and encased firearm within one's reach as 'going armed with' the firearm." Wis. Legis. Council Info. Memo. IM-2011-10, *Carrying and Possessing Firearms in Wisconsin*, at 1 (July 1, 2011) ("Legis. Council Info. Memo") (A-App. 124). But the memorandum did not provide any analysis to support that opinion; it simply stated that in *Walls*, "the Court of Appeals recognized that the placement, possession, or transportation of unloaded and encased firearms in vehicles as permitted by § 167.31(2)(b), Stats., does not constitute going armed with a concealed weapon." *Id.* at 1 n.3 (A-App. 124.)

On the other hand, the Wisconsin Criminal Jury Instructions Committee expressed doubt that compliance with the prior version of the Vehicle Statute precluded a conviction under the CCW Statute. In response to an inquiry about the relationship between the CCW Statute and the prior version of the Vehicle Statute, the Committee said that the "impli[cation] that a person may possess a firearm in a vehicle if it is unloaded and encased . . . may conflict with the interpretation of § 941.23 in . . . *Walls*" Comment, Wis. JI-Criminal 1335 (2012), at 3 (A-App. 134).

The Committee "concluded that resolving this conflict was beyond the scope of the jury instructions." *Id.* at 4 (A-App. 135.) It also noted that the Vehicle Statute had been amended by 2011 Wis. Acts 35 and 51. *Id.*

The argument that the prior version of the Vehicle Statute created a safe harbor from prosecution under the CCW Statute—though erroneous, in the State's view—finds some support in the language of the prior statute. The previous version of the Vehicle Statute required that a firearm be "encased" when transported. *See* Wis. Stat. § 167.31(2)(b) (2009–10). To comply with that version of the Vehicle Statute, therefore, the firearm had to be concealed. It does not follow, however, that compliance with the prior version of the Vehicle Statute trumped the CCW Statute. A person transporting a firearm in a vehicle was governed by both statutes. To comply with the earlier version of the Vehicle Statute, a person had to encase the firearm. To comply with the CCW Statute, the enclosed firearm must be placed out of reach. A person complying with the prior version of the Vehicle Statute was not required to violate the CCW Statute because the encased weapon could be transported lawfully out of reach.

But regardless of whether the prior version of the Vehicle Statute created a safe harbor from CCW prosecution for a person who carried an encased and unloaded firearm in a vehicle, there is nothing in the language of the current version of the Vehicle Statute that can be construed to authorize carrying a concealed handgun in a vehicle without a concealed carry license. Unlike the prior version of the statute, which required that a firearm transported in a vehicle be encased—and, therefore, concealed—the current version of the Vehicle Statute says nothing about how a handgun must be transported in a vehicle. Rather, it simply states that, unlike a long gun, which must be unloaded when possessed or transported in a vehicle, a handgun possessed or transported in a vehicle may be loaded. See Wis. Stat. § 167.31(2)(b) ("no person may place, possess, or transport a firearm . . . in or on a vehicle, unless . . . [t]he firearm is unloaded or is a handgun").

Grandberry contends that in light of the 2011 amendment to the Vehicle Statute, "*Walls* should now be read as establishing that the 'lawful placement, possession, or transportation of [handguns or other unloaded firearms] as permitted by § 167.31(2)(b)' does not constitute 'going armed with' a dangerous weapon." (Grandberry's Br. 10–11.) "There is," he asserts, "no principled reason why the statutory amendments would not broaden the *Walls* court's conclusion in this manner." (*Id.* at 11.)

But there is a principled reason for not applying the purported Walls safe harbor to the amended CCW and Vehicle Statutes. That reason is found in the plain language of those statutes. The current version of the Vehicle Statute, unlike the prior version cited in *Walls*, does not require that a firearm transported in a vehicle be encased and therefore concealed. The prior version of the Vehicle Statute would have required Grandberry to encase his pistol, but the current version of the statute did not require him to do anything. Grandberry did not "comply" with the Vehicle Statute (see Grandberry's Br. 1, 7) because that statute imposed no requirements with which he had to comply. And while the Legislature amended the CCW Statute to provide several exceptions to the prohibition against carrying a concealed weapon, it did not include an exception for weapons transported in vehicles.

The court of appeals held that the Vehicle Statute "only applies to those who have passed the rigorous conditions for obtaining a CCW permit." *Grandberry*, 2016 WL 6953728, ¶ 9 (A-App. 105). The court of appeals reached that conclusion because the Vehicle Statute, in Wis. Stat. § 167.31(cm), "make[s] a specific reference to Wis. Stat. § 175.60, which is the detailed statute setting out the requirements to obtain a concealed carry permit." *Id.* For that reason, the court of appeals held, the Vehicle Statute "only applies to those who have passed the rigorous conditions for obtaining a CCW permit." *Id.*

The State agrees with Grandberry and his amicus that the court of appeals erred on that point. (*See* Grandberry's Br.

20–21; Amicus Br. 10–11.) The Vehicle Statute says that "no person" may transport a firearm in a vehicle unless it is unloaded or a handgun. The fact that the Vehicle Statute defines "handgun" by reference to the definition of "handgun" in the concealed carry licensing statute, *see* Wis. Stat. §§ 167.31(1)(cm), 175.60(1)(bm), does not mean that the Vehicle Statute itself applies only to persons who have obtained a concealed carry license.

But the State's argument does not rely on the court of appeals' overly narrow reading of the Vehicle Statute. The Vehicle Statute allows individuals to possess or transport a loaded handgun in a vehicle, but it does not require that it be encased and says nothing about where it must be placed. The CCW Statute requires individuals who lack a concealed carry license to transport a handgun out of reach or unconcealed. That Grandberry's possession of a loaded handgun was permissible under the Vehicle Statute did not exempt him from the CCW Statute's requirement that, because he lacked a concealed carry license, his gun must have been unconcealed or out of his reach.

C. There is no conflict between the CCW Statute and the Vehicle Statute.

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